WITH LATEST STUNT, MIKE FLYNN MAY SAVE BIJAN KIAN FROM PRISON TIME BUT DOUBLE HIS OWN

When Mike Flynn hired new counsel, it became clear he was ... up to something. Now that something might get him — and possibly even his son (concerns about whom motivated Flynn to cooperate in the first place) — sent to prison. Or, it might spectacularly fuck over the government. We'll find out next week, when Flynn's former partner Bijan Kian goes on trial ... or maybe sooner, given that Emmet Sullivan has demanded details on the backstory before the end of the week.

Filings unsealed in Kian's case make it clear that, since the time Flynn replaced the very good Rob Kelner with Fox News firebreather Sidney Powell and Jesse Binnall, he reneged on a key part of his guilty plea. He newly claimed to prosecutors that that he had not knowingly lied about working for Turkey in the March 7, 2017 FARA filing that admitted Turkey might benefit but denied they were paying for - his services. In response, the government has informed Kian they will not have Flynn testify at trial, and instead tried to name him a co-conspirator and submit one of his statements as the statements of a co-conspirator. That led to the unsealing of these documents, with Kian trying to prevent the government from upending their defense strategy, which has consisted of portraying Flynn as a liar, and Flynn trying to prevent the government from designating him a coconspirator. Last night, Judge Anthony Trenga ruled largely for Kian on a bunch of other matters (which may have interesting effects for FARA and 951 prosecutions in EDVA); along the way Trenga ruled that the government has not sufficiently shown a conspiracy to violate 951

such that they can enter Akim Alptekin's statements as a co-conspirator. That will also prevent them—at least as of now—from entering one exhibit involving Flynn as the statement of a co-conspirator, unless and until they submit enough evidence at trial to lay out such a conspiracy (though that exhibit will be admissible under other standards). Naming Flynn a co-conspirator might make it easier to prove a conspiracy, but they're not there yet.

To be sure, Kian (who like Flynn hired really good lawyers but unlike Flynn did what they told him and also didn't fire them) already stood a good chance of prevailing at trial, because Trenga is really skeptical of the way the government charged this, including their initial decision not to treat Flynn himself as a coconspirator. But the chaos Flynn has caused by reneging on his testimony may be the final straw that sinks the government's case.

All that said, Flynn's decision to renege on his testimony may have short-circuited a plan to challenge his guilty plea down the road. That's because Emmet Sullivan has ordered the parties to immediately explain how the government's decision not to have Flynn testify will affect his sentencing, which had been delayed exclusively for that purpose.

MINUTE ORDER as to MICHAEL T. FLYNN. On June 24, 2019, defense counsel represented to the Court that Mr. Flynn was scheduled to testify at the trial in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of Virginia before the Honorable Anthony J. Trenga. See Hrig Tr. (June 24, 2019), ECF No. 94 at 5:18-25; 6:1-11. On July 9, 2019, Judge Trenga issued an Order unsealing certain court records, see Order, United States v. Raflekian, Criminal Action No. 18-457 (E.D. Va. July 9, 2019), ECF No. 279 at 1-2, including the following: (1) the government's "Notice of Correction to the Record," (2) Mr. Flynn's "Memorandum Opposing Coconspirator Designation of Non-Party Witness Michael T. Flynn;" and (3) Mr. Bijan Raflekian's "Memorandum Regarding Notice of Correction to the Record," See Attachment. The government is ORDERED to file a submission to this Court by no later than 5:00 PM on July 10, 2019, explaining how the unsealed records in United States v. Raflekian will impact the proceedings before this Court. Mr. Flynn is ORDERED to file his response to the government's submission by no later than 5:00 PM on July 11, 2019. The Court will not extend these filing deadlines. Signed by Judge Emmet G. Sullivan on 7/9/2019. (loegs)

Flynn's motion objecting to being named a coconspirator is what you'd expect from a firebreather. It makes a lot of allegations about Flynn being pressured to plead the way he did and invokes David Laufman, whom the frothy right has inserted into some of their hoaxes, to suggest that it was improper for DOJ to insist that the National Security Advisor disclose that he had been on Turkey's payroll while ostensibly serving as Trump's top national security advisor during the campaign.

A key part of this strategy appears to be to review Kelner's prior work, and blame him for the decisions already made.

This really fucks over Kelner, who in December was on the verge of getting his client no prison time before Flynn decided to use his sentencing as an opportunity to discredit the prosecution of him for acting as an unregistered foreign agent while getting Top Secret briefings, and who might still have saved him from prison time had he simply testified in the Kian trial as planned. Kelner will be unable to rebut some of the claims Powell is making, because Flynn gets to decide what privilege to waive, not Kelner. Flynn has probably not even paid Kelner due recompense for that work! Note, too, how Kelner is exposed by Flynn's own lies.

All that said, the case Flynn's lawyers are making is — typical of the frothy right — better suited for seeding more conspiracies than winning a legal argument. First, they overstate the assurances the government made that Flynn had no danger of being described as a coconspirator in this case.

The transcript all sides are relying on — the June 13 statement the government tried to correct — does not deny that Flynn was part of the conspiracy, just states that the government won't label him as such.

THE COURT: Let me ask you this. It's not in the indictment. Is the government alleging that Mr. Flynn was part of this conspiracy?

MR. GILLIS: We are not, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Right. So you're not presenting any statements by him, any testimony — there would be no evidence from him as to the existence of the conspiracy?

MR. GILLIS: Well, Your Honor - no. Your

Honor, as to that. There will certainly be testimony from General Flynn. And from that testimony, the jury could draw a reasonable inference that there was a conspiracy, but we are not — we do not contend that General Flynn was a part of that conspiracy.

They make it quite clear his testimony would describe actions he was involved in that amount to a conspiracy. The government just wasn't labeling the guy who was then going to be a friendly witness a co-conspirator. Flynn points to assurances that Gillis told them the government would not *charge* Flynn in the conspiracy.

Not only did the prosecutors advise the Court on the record that Mr. Flynn is not a coconspirator, AUSA Gillis has stated repeatedly in interviews of Mr. Flynn and representations to counsel that Mr. Flynn was not implicated in the charged conspiracy.4

4 Mr. Gillis informed undersigned counsel and Mr. Flynn twice on June 6 alone that Mr. Flynn was not charged in this conspiracy, and they did not intend to charge him. This is one reason new counsel for Mr. Flynn understood that the government was only interested in and satisfied with Mr. Flynn's factual testimony as given repeatedly to date—which, as Mr. Gillis put it, "would allow the jury to infer supervision and control" of the project by the Government of Turkey.

These are different things: not alleging Flynn is part of the conspiracy, not contending that he is, not charging him for it, but nevertheless being implicated in it.

Plus, the record before Judge Sullivan is quite clear: absent his cooperation agreement, Flynn

could have been charged with both conspiracy and 18 USC 951 (being an Agent of a foreign power).

THE COURT: I think that's fair. I think that's fair. Your answer is he could have been charged in that indictment.

MR. VAN GRACK: Yes, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And that would have been — what's the exposure in that indictment if someone is found guilty? MR. VAN GRACK: Your Honor, I believe, if you'll give me a moment, I believe it was a conspiracy, 18 U.S.C. 371, which I believe is a five-year offense. It was a violation of 18 U.S.C. 951, which is either a five- or ten-year offense, and false statements — under those false statements, now that I think about it, Your Honor, pertain to Ekim Alptekin, and I don't believe the defendant had exposure to the false statements of that individual.

THE COURT: Could the sentences have been run consecutive to one another?

MR. VAN GRACK: I believe so.

THE COURT: So the exposure would have been grave, then, would have been — it would have been — exposure to Mr. Flynn would have been significant had he been indicted?

In other words, as far as Sullivan is concerned, given Flynn's changed testimony the government now reaffirms that he was part of that conspiracy, as they did in December.

Moreover, Flynn's lawyers doesn't seem to understand the purpose of Flynn's FARA in March 2017, which was to fix a reliance on a commercial exception and admit Flynn that had actually been influence peddling. The March 2017 FARA filing did that. What it didn't do is admit that Flynn was aware the Turkish government was paying for the work, not just that it might

benefit from it (which is what the filing said). What the FARA filing did not do is admit Flynn knew the Turkish government was his actual client, not Inovo.

Thus, showing (as they do) that Kelner learned and expressed concern about Turkey's role in January 2017 doesn't prove he knew that the FARA filing was a lie in March. Nor does pointing out that Alpetkin's lawyers lied. At one point they point to Kelner, in a recent interview with prosecutors, stating that they did not go through all of Flynn Intelligence Group emails, without realizing that that would mean any lies Flynn told to Kelner would be more significant.

ET: Did you speak to D about this document?

R: Not sure; it would have depended on when we obtained this doc. Even if had it before, did not necessarily go through every doc; were trying to capture high-level info of who client was and nature of work.

In another, they make a big deal that notes of significant legal issues don't include something — the evolution of the project from one focused on business to one focused on influence-peddling — that was already well established by that point.

Handwritten notes of 2/22/2017 meeting with Mr. Flynn were transcribed a year later and omit the crucial fact that Mr. Flynn told counsel the "business activities" reason that originated the project quickly "crystalized" down to "Gulen" which the raw notes show with a V diagram. The later transcription also omits or misinterprets the fact that the op-ed was pushed at the time for campaign reasons (in addition to for the Inovo project). Compare Ex. 8 with Ex. 9. See Ex. 8-A, transcription of handwritten notes.

But there's abundant reason to believe Flynn's claim here — that the op-ed in question, which was done for Turkey, was in fact really meant to benefit the campaign — was utter horseshit. And the accurate transcription of these notes

exticu was for compaign reasons. (fighting until was for compaign was severes on fighting assert was severes on fighting estamic estimation).

Smaylu tied to get out trustyle compaign whemes (initially had tout standary enforce).

... instead strongly suggests that in the latest document Flynn produced yesterday, his lawyers caught him lying to them about the central purpose of the op-ed, which was to help Turkey.

In other words, the documents released yesterday show that Kelner didn't read through every FIG document, and that up until the end Flynn continued to lie to him about what the purpose of the November 8, 2016 op-ed was (as clearly shown by other records released in advance of this trial). They support the government's claim that Flynn knowingly lied in March 2017.

Don't get me wrong. This strategy, bolstered by months of riling of the frothy right, might well have worked like a charm. It even still may!

But Emmet Sullivan — and the government — are under no obligation to give Flynn's Fox firebreathers time to sow these new conspiracies.

Plus, Sullivan seems to have expected something like this might ultimately happen, because the last time Flynn tried to sow conspiracies, only to walk them back, Sullivan made sure to put Flynn under oath before he stated that he was satisfied with Kelner's representation.

THE COURT: All right. I want to focus on the plea first because I think I need to. And there are some questions that I'm going to ask Mr. Flynn, and because this is an extension, in my opinion, of the plea colloquy, I'm going to ask the courtroom deputy at that time to administer the oath, because normally when we have plea colloquies, we always

require a defendant to be under oath, and that's what I'm going to do this morning, unless there are objections.

MR. KELNER: No objection, Your Honor.

[snip]

So I'm going to invite Mr. Flynn and his attorney or attorneys to come to the podium, and I'm going to ask the courtroom deputy to administer the oath to Mr. Flynn.

(MICHAEL FLYNN, DEFENDANT IN THE CASE, SWORN)

THE COURT: All right. And I will inform you, sir, that any false answers will get you in more trouble. Do you understand that?

THE DEFENDANT: Yes.

[snip]

THE COURT: All right. Are you satisfied with the services provided by your attorneys?

THE DEFENDANT: I am.

THE COURT: In certain special circumstances, I have over the years appointed an independent attorney to speak with a defendant, review the defendant's file, and conduct necessary research to render a second opinion for a defendant. Do you want the Court to consider appointing an independent attorney for you in this case to give you a second opinion?

THE DEFENDANT: I do not, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you feel that you were competent and capable of entering into a guilty plea when you pled guilty on December 1st, 2017?

THE DEFENDANT: I do, Your Honor.

THE COURT: Do you understand the nature of the charges against you and the consequences of pleading guilty?

THE DEFENDANT: I do understand, Your Honor.

THE COURT: And that was covered extensively by Judge Contreras. I've read the transcript. Are you continuing to accept responsibility for your false statements?

THE DEFENDANT: I am, Your Honor

As bmaz presciently wrote at the time, Sullivan was anticipating he might need to lay the groundwork for a fraud on the court.

All of which is to say, it was always going to be hard for Flynn to pull off backing out of his plea deal, even with the three months Powell asked to prepare.

But Sullivan was already fairly pissed that Flynn was getting off easy for having served the interests of Turkey while also serving as Trump's top national security advisor. He probably had cooled off in the interim 7 months. Except now Flynn has basically taken steps to suggest he perjured himself in front of Judge Sullivan.

Which at least gives Sullivan the opportunity to sentence him immediately, and harshly.

Update: The government says that Flynn's change of testimony does raise significant issues for Flynn's sentencing, but they won't be sure how until after the Kian trial.

At this time the government cannot speculate on how specifically the aforementioned records will impact the government's sentencing position in the proceedings before this Court. Although the records raise numerous issues, the Rafiekian trial may still impact the government's position. For example,

Rafiekian could call the defendant to testify at trial. As a result, the government intends to reassess its sentencing position at the conclusion of that trial.

It sounds like they'll want to move to sentencing shortly after trial, but they do want to wait until after it.

Update: The government just updated its witness list to add Flynn's spawn. That should make things interesting next week, as the spawn can verify some of the things pops might otherwise do.

Timeline

June 27: Flynn reneges on part of his guilty plea

July 2: Prosecutors tell Kian's lawyers that Flynn now claims he didn't know about the lies being submitted in his FARA filing

July 3: Government files a correction to the record, notifying Kian that they will not call Flynn as a witness, will treat him as a coconspirator, and in so doing, submit one of his statements as evidence

July 5: Kian asks for a hearing to force the disclosure of the correction; asks for hearing to see whether indictment was based of coerced testimony from Flynn

July 6: The government rebuts Kian's claim that his indictment relied on false Flynn testimony, also noting that it was the defense that assumed Flynn would testify

July 8: Kian complains that his comments in November 2016 about dissolving the Flynn Intelligence Group changed when Flynn was filing fraudulent statements on FARA; Flynn tries to prevent the government from calling Flynn a coconspirator

ANN DONALDSON'S CODE MAKES RICHARD BURR'S TIP-OFF TO THE WHITE HOUSE FAR MORE DAMNING

Ann Donaldson generally used a code to not answer the House Judiciary Committee's questions to her. But the way in which she applies that code to questions about Richard Burr tipping off the White House to the FBI's investigation are quite damning.

THE STEELE DOSSIER AND THE MUELLER INVESTIGATION: CARTER PAGE

In the first of a series on what the public record shows about the Steele dossier's influence on the Mueller investigation, I'll show that it definitely had a role in the investigation of Carter Page, but for different reasons than commonly understood.

JIM JORDAN'S BUBBLE

HAS ALLOWED HIM TO REMAIN PAINFULLY STUPID ABOUT THE MUELLER INVESTIGATION

Jim Jordan thinks he has a doozy question for Robert Mueller: Why Mueller didn't decide he couldn't charge conspiracy until after the midterms. Jordan would more productively ask Donald Trump that question than Mueller.

AMID DESCRIPTION OF KUSHNER'S SHADOW FOREIGN POLICY, TILLERSON COUNTERS A JARED CLAIM TO MUELLER ABOUT KIRILL DMITRIEV'S PLAN

Rex Tillerson told the HFRC some pretty alarming things about how Jared pursued his own diplomatic plans without informing him. That makes Tillerson's claim — that Kushner did not (as Kushner told Mueller) share a Russian reconciliation plan more interesting.

ROGER STONE'S LATEST: WHEN LEGAL CATEGORIES OF INNOCENT OR GUILTY BECOME DISINFORMATION AND PARDON [UPDATED]

Roger Stone's prosecutors are calling for a reconsideration of his release based off recent Instagram posts he made attacking the Russian investigation. I think this is a far closer call than his earlier shitposting.

JAY SEKULOW SEEMS WORRIED THAT TRUMP'S "COLLUSION" IS VISIBLE FROM SPACE

Given a conspiracy theory hatched by the President's defense attorney this week, Jay Sekulow must worry that Trump's "collusion" is visible from space.

THE DATES OF MIKE FLYNN'S INTERVIEWS

This post has an updated list of the known Flynn interview dates.

QUESTIONS FOR ROBERT MUELLER (AND HIS PROSECUTORS) THAT GO BEYOND THE SHOW

Most of the questions people have drafted for Robert Mueller are designed solely for show. Here are some that get at the substance of his investigation.

ACCORDING TO HOPE HICKS'S TESTIMONY, TRUMP SHOULD APPLAUD PAUL MANAFORT'S CONVICTION

According to Hope Hicks, Trump was worried in real time that Paul Manafort might have divided loyalties while he was working for him. So why does Trump want to pardon him for crimes involving those divided loyalties now?